
        
 

 

 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, December 19, 2022 

7:00 p.m. 
 

 
Pursuant to Chapter 22 of the Acts of 2022, An Act Relative to the Extending 
Certain COVID-19 Measures Adopted During the State of Emergency, signed into 
law on July 16, 2022, this meeting will be conducted via remote participation.  No 
in person attendance by members of the public will be permitted.  
 

 
 

To view or listen 
 

• Live Stream link YouTube: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCRdBrw3HeEAMB_KFKasrgXA  
 

• Zoom webinar link: https://town-northborough-ma-us.zoom.us/j/87454312394 
When prompted, enter Password 287806 
 

• CATV Government Channels: Verizon Channel 30, Charter Channel 192 
 

• Call 1-646-876-9923 
When prompted, enter Meeting ID  874 5431 2394 and Password 287806 

 
 
 

For Public Comment 
 

Public Comment is allowed and encouraged during any agenda item.  To offer 
comments at any time, please use the “raise hand” button in Zoom, or raise  

your hand if in person.  The Chair will recognize you before any  
vote or before the agenda item is otherwise concluded. 

 
*** Public comment will be limited to 3 minutes per person *** 

 
 
 
 
  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCRdBrw3HeEAMB_KFKasrgXA
https://town-northborough-ma-us.zoom.us/j/87454312394


BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
MEETING AGENDA CONTINUED 

Monday, December 19, 2022 
7:00 p.m. 

1. Public Comment.

2. Approval of December 5, 2022 Meeting Minutes.

3. Consideration and vote to endorse the Complete Streets Project Prioritization
Plan.

4. Reports.

5. Renewal of Selectmen's Licenses for the Calendar Year 2023.

6. Interview Subcommittee:  Recommendation for the following appointments:
• Erica Zeiger to the Youth Commission
• Amanda Derosier Millette to the Historic District Commission

7. Review of updated Board, Committee or Commission Application Form.

8. Execution of Cemetery Deeds 1162

9. Any other business to come before the Board.

10. Public Comment.



 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES – December 5, 2022 
 
 
 
7:00 p.m. -  Chair’s Introduction to Remote Meeting 
Chair Cohen stated that this Open Meeting of the Board of Selectmen was being conducted 
remotely consistent with the July 16, 2022 Act Relative to Extending Certain COVID-19 
Measures Adopted During the State of Emergency and that all members of the Board of 
Selectmen are allowed and encouraged to participate remotely. 
 
Chair Cohen noted that the Order allows public bodies to meet entirely remotely so long as 
reasonable public access is afforded so that the public can follow along with the deliberations of 
the meeting.  He added that ensuring public access does not ensure public participation unless 
such participation is required by law.  Chair Cohen noted that this meeting will allow for Public 
Comment throughout the agenda.  He indicated the various ways that the public may view or 
participate in this meeting as listed on the posted agenda.   
 
Chair Cohen confirmed that the following members and persons anticipated on the agenda were 
remotely present and could be heard. 
 
Board of Selectmen   Others 
Mitch Cohen    John Coderre, Town Administrator   
Julianne Hirsh    Becca Meekins, Assistant Town Administrator 
Kristen Wixted   David Parenti, Fire Chief 
Jason Perreault   William Lyver, Police Chief  
T. Scott Rogers   Scott Charpentier, DPW Director 
 
Any votes taken this evening will be by roll call. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Alice Latoski at 490 Main Street (Pheasant Hill Condominiums) expressed concern over 
wetlands being disturbed if additional athletic fields are added at the high school.  She also asked 
about the funding for this project.  Mr. Coderre responded that the Conservation Commission 
will be discussing this project in regard to the wetlands.  He added that nothing has been 
considered or approved by the finance committees yet.  He suggested that she contact the School 
Superintendent for any other questions regarding the project itself.  Mr. Charpentier informed her 
that a full set of drawings for the proposed athletic fields are available in the Planning 
Department. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES – NOVEMBER 7, 2022 MEETING 
Selectman Perreault moved the Board vote to approve the November 7, 2022 meeting minutes; 
Selectman Rogers seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
  



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 2 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – NOVEMBER 21, 2022 MEETING 
Selectman Rogers moved the Board vote to approve the November 21, 2022 meeting minutes; 
Selectman Hirsh seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
TOWN PLANNER LAURIE CONNORS & DPW DIRECTOR SCOTT CHARPENTIER 
Discussion and vote regarding dog park site selection. 
 
Ms. Connors provided a status update on the Town’s efforts in regard to a Northborough Dog 
Park as follows: 
 
Ms. Connors noted that the planning for a municipal dog park has been underway for many 
years.  Respondents to a 2020 Master Plan Survey identified construction of a Town Dog Park as 
a top open space & recreation priority, which is included as a recommendation in both the 2020 
Master Plan and 2020 Open Space & Recreation Plan.   
 
In April 2022, the Town secured $35,500 in FY2023 CPA funds for the initial assessment and 
site evaluation of up to five potential locations that could be used for a dog park, as well as the 
development of a preliminary design for the selected site. In July 2022, the Town executed a 
contract with Weston & Sampson Engineers to perform this work. 
 
On October 11, 2022, a public information and input session took place via Zoom.  Weston & 
Sampson presented their analysis of 4 potential sites and requested public feedback on those 
locations and potential amenities.  Public comments were received during the meeting and 
written feedback was received via email in the days following the meeting.  The 32-acre wooded 
parcel on Boundary Street received the highest number of votes.  A 3.5-acre parcel of recreation 
land on Bearfoot Road, which is adjacent to the Senior Center, received a couple of votes but 
also strong opposition from several senior citizens and members of the Council on Aging.  The 
remaining two sites (Carriage Hill Road and Buena Vista Road) received no votes.      
 
Ms. Connors indicated that this evening, the Board of Selectmen is being asked to approve the 
Boundary Street site.  It was noted that a funding request will be presented to the Community 
Preservation Committee (CPC) for consideration and possible inclusion in the 2024 Annual 
Town Meeting warrant and that staff will begin working with the consultant to develop a design 
concept and cost estimate for the selected site.  In January, the design team will hold another 
public information and input session to obtain feedback on the design concept.   Following that 
meeting, staff will work with Weston & Sampson Engineers to refine the design and cost 
estimate based on the feedback received.   
 
Ms. Connors noted that with the anticipated completion date for the design and cost estimate to 
be sometime in the Spring of 2023, staff will then file an application with the Stanton Foundation 
in the amount of $22,500 to finalize the design, obtain required permits and prepare construction-
ready bid documents.   She added that the Town will provide $11,500 in supplemental funding. 
If the Town’s request for FY2024 CPC funds is successful, staff will then file a grant application 
to the Stanton Foundation for $225,000 in construction funding, which is the maximum grant 



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 3 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

award.  The minimum required municipal match is 10% of the total cost of construction.   Once 
construction funds are fully secured, the Town will procure a construction contractor.  
Construction of the project is expected to take approximately 9 months to complete, weather 
permitting.   
 
Ms. Connors noted that some of the amenities to be considered include lawn and planting; shade 
shelters, stone dust trails, fencing and signage, wood chips and mulch areas, synthetic turf areas, 
paved seating areas, water play/sprinklers and agility play equipment. 
 
Mr. Charpentier reviewed the pros and cons of each of the four potential sites as follows: 
 
Carriage Hill Road 
The only pros for this site is the amount of shade and possible utility connections from the street.  
The cons include many residential abutters, a residential access road and limited vehicular 
access.  Also, wetlands and steep slopes will limit construction in some areas. 
 
Boundary Street 
There are many pros compared to cons on the Boundary Street site.  For shade purposes, it is 
fully forested, it is protected open space with slopes that will provide residential barriers and 
buffers.  There are opportunities for off leash hiking and there are possible utility connections 
from the street.  The only cons are steep slopes to the east and wetlands and easements will limit 
construction in some areas. 
 
Buena Vista Road 
This is a challenging site with the only pros being that it is fully shaded with mostly flat areas.  
Utility connections are possible from the Street.  The cons include residential abutters with a 
residential access road.  The size is limited, wet, with wetlands and easements that will limit 
construction options. 
 
Bearfoot Road/Senior Center 
The pros for this site is that it is protected open space that is fully forested with utility access.  It 
is adjacent to the Senior Center and there is strong opposition from several senior citizens and 
members of the Council on Aging.  There are also steep slopes throughout the site, a chance of 
flooding along the east perimeter and the wetlands will limit construction in some areas. 
 
Mr. Charpentier stated that when you compare the analyzes of the four sites, the Boundary Street 
parcel has the least number of residential abutters.  The Buena Vista site is the smallest and 
wettest.  The Carriage Hill site is embedded in a neighborhood.  Lastly, the Bearfoot Road site 
has geometrical challenges and has received strong opposition from many connected to the 
Senior Center.   
 
Following a brief review of the configuration plan for the Boundary Street site, Mr. Charpentier 
and Ms. Connors responded to questions from members of the Board specific to this site.   
 
Ms. Connors assured the Board that she is confident that the Town will be awarded the Stanton 
Foundation grant.  She reviewed typical rules and regulations for dog parks, which are set by the 
Town and approved by the Stanton Foundation.  She informed the Board that Millbury, 
Worcester, Oxford, Uxbridge and many in the Boston area all have dog parks in place.  Hudson 



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 4 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

has expressed interest in developing a dog park and Southborough is in the early stages of 
planning for a dog park.  Ms. Connors confirmed that abutters who live within 500 feet from the 
proposed dog park at this site were notified and only one abutter expressed concern.  The 
Housing Authority owns the duplex immediately next door and is aware of the proposal for a dog 
park. 
 
Cynthia Burns at 186 Boundary Street questioned if a cost analysis had been done for the 
Boundary Street and Senior Center locations.  Mr. Charpentier responded that the cost is based 
on the size and amenities and not on a specific site; therefore, the cost would be similar for both 
locations.  
 
Ms. Connors stated that the dog park would be strictly a dawn to dust facility.  With her past 
experience in developing and maintaining the Millbury dog park, she shared that there were no 
complaints in regard to odors, vandalism or illicit behavior.  Any complaints, which were few, 
related to the behavior of either the dog or the dog owner. 
 
Rick Robinson at 167 Howard Street shared his experiences with some of the dog parks in the 
area, which are all positive.  He added that he and his wife are strong advocates for the Boundary 
Street site. 
 
John Campbell at 29 Spruce Hill Drive stated that he is the Chair of the Community Preservation 
Committee (CPC), which heard the same presentation as outlined tonight and was struck by the 
extreme thoroughness of the preparation efforts put forth in recent months.  The CPC will 
continue their deliberations on this CPA application at their meeting on January 5, 2023. 
 
Ms. Connors shared her experience working with the Millbury Dog Park Committee and 
explained what their function was. 
 
In response to one last question, Mr. Charpentier indicated that the Westborough State Hospital 
site was considered during the prior round of dog park site considerations, but a bulk of that land 
has been reused by the State and they have not been interested in surplusing any of the little bit 
of land that is available.  Ms. Connors quickly summarized the next steps moving forward.  
 
Selectman Wixted moved the Board vote to approve the Boundary Street site location for the 
new dog park; Selectman Rogers seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
Chair Cohen thanked Ms. Connors and Mr. Charpentier for all of their hard work moving this 
project forward.  He also thanked both Town staff and the volunteers for their help. 
 
REPORTS 
 
Julianne Hirsh 
- Noted that Chair Cohen, Mr. Coderre and herself had a very productive meeting with Senator 

Elect Robyn Kennedy this afternoon. 



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 5 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

- Thanked the Town Common group for the beautiful planters on Church Street and Main 
Street. 

- Thanked the Community Affairs Committee for organizing the tree lighting and the initial 
lighting of the Menorah event. 

 
Jason Perreault 
- Thanked the Community Affairs Committee for organizing the tree lighting and the initial 

lighting of the Menorah event.   
- Offered a reminder that the Fire Department’s Toys for Tots collection continues through 

December 11th.  More information can be found on the Town website. 
 
Kristen Wixted 
- Noted that Hannaford also has a Toys for Tots collection box. 
- Donated books and toys to the Police Department sponsored Stuffed Cruiser Drive at 

Walmart.  Thanked the Police Department for organizing this event and Officer Roselle for 
his efforts with the collections. 

- Noted that Boy Scout Troop 101 will again offer tree pick up after the holidays. 
- Noted that she conducted an informal poll to see if residents are interested in electronic 

voting during the Annual Town Meeting.  It seems that they are and she will continue to 
research what other communities are doing. 

 
T. Scott Rogers 
- Thanked everyone who organized and participated in the Thanksgiving Turkey Trot.  They 

had over 600 participants. 
 
Mitch Cohen 
- Observed the Thanksgiving Turkey Trot and it was a great event. 
- Thanked the Community Affairs Committee for the tree lighting and the initial lighting of the 

Menorah event. 
- Looking forward to the official lighting of the Menorah on December 25th at 5pm at the 

Blake Street location. 
- Thanked the Firefighters Union 3057 for their social media gag.  He is enjoying watching the 

mischief that Pierce the Firefighter elf is getting into. 
 
INTERVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE 
Recommendation for appointment of Jennifer Scalise to the Temporary Traffic Safety 
Committee. 
 
Selectman Hirsh moved the Board vote to recommend Jennifer Scalise for appointment to the 
Temporary Traffic Safety Committee as recommended by the Interview Subcommittee; 
Selectman Wixted seconded the motion. 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
Chair Cohen indicated that the Committee is now complete and that the first meeting will be 
scheduled before the end of the calendar year. 



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 6 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

PRESENTATION OF PRELIMINARY FY2024 BUDGET SCHEDULE 
Mr. Coderre presented the Preliminary FY2024 Free Cash Plan for consideration and use during 
the upcoming budget process.   FY2022 year-end Free Cash was certified at approximately $2.44 
million, significantly less than the $3.39 million from FY2021.  Following the reopening of the 
economy and subsequent recovery from the pandemic, Free Cash levels are likely to remain at 
lower historic levels for the foreseeable future.   
 
Mr. Coderre reviewed the FY2022 year-end results as follows: 
 
• The unspent Free Cash from FY2022 was $500,59.  The Town “generated” $1,939,814 

during FY2022 for a total FY2022 Free Cash of $2,440,073.    
• Revenues exceeded the FY2022 budget by $765,712 or 1.16% with local receipts such as 

motor vehicle excise taxes, hotel & meals taxes and building permits performing better than 
anticipated due to the improving economy. 

• Expenditures returned were $1,144,386 or 1.67%.  The return included positive results in the 
Employee Benefit lines due to favorable health insurance experience. Staff turnover in public 
safety also resulted in returned appropriations as new hires were brought on at a lower salary 
cost.  

 
Mr. Coderre reported that the preliminary Free Cash plan contains the annual $175,000 
appropriation to the Reserve Account, a $500,000 contribution to the FY2024 Operating Budget, 
a $200,000 contribution to the Stabilization Fund and using up to $1,065,073 to pay for various 
capital projects.  The plan also contemplates leaving approximately $500,000 in unappropriated 
Free Cash, which would remain available if needed.   
 
Mr. Coderre emphasized that the Town’s bond rating, which was upgraded to Aa1 during 
FY2016, increased partially due to the Town’s healthy financial reserves and disciplined 
implementation of the Free Cash Policy.   
 
Mr. Coderre noted that the final use of Free Cash is subject to Town Meeting approval and 
appropriation and that the Financial Planning Committee and Appropriations Committee will 
begin to meet to discuss the various projects and funding plans for recommendation at the 
Annual Town Meeting. 
 
Mr. Coderre referenced information in the FY2023 Free Cash Plan that was included in the 
Board’s meeting packets.  He indicated that there is a Frequently Asked Questions section for 
anyone not familiar with Free Cash or the Town’s policy.   
 
REVIEW OF TOWN MEETING & FY2024 BUDGET SCHEDULE 
Mr. Coderre briefly reviewed the schedule for the FY2024 Budget and the 2023 Annual Town 
Meeting. 
 
  



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 7 December 5, 2022 
 
 

 

SET MEETING SCHEDULE FOR JANUARY – APRIL 2023 
Selectman Perreault moved the Board vote to set the meeting schedule for January through April 
as follows:  January 9 & 23; February 13 & 27; March 13 & 27 and April 10 & 24 (Town 
Meeting); Selectman Rogers seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
CONSIDER CLOSING TOWN OFFICES, DPW AND SENIOR CENTER ON 
DECEMBER 23 
Mr. Coderre asked that the Board consider the closing of Town Offices, DPW and the Senior 
Center on Friday, December 23rd to allow non-essential employees additional time with their 
families this Holiday season. 
 
Selectman Rogers moved the Board vote to close the Town Offices, DPW and Senior Center on 
Friday, December 23rd to provide staff additional time with their families this holiday season 
with the following conditions: 1) staff who are normally scheduled to work this day shall receive 
their regular rate of pay; 2) in the event that essential staff are called in to work, they shall 
receive their regular rate of pay; and 3) staff not scheduled to work this day, including staff on 
scheduled vacation leave or sick leave, shall have such scheduled leave calculated on a full-day 
basis; Selectman Perreault seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
EXECUTION OF CEMETERY DEEDS 1159, 1160 & 1161 
Selectman Wixted moved the Board vote to execute Cemetery Deeds 1159, 1160 & 1161; 
Selectman Perreault seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Perreault “aye”  Hirsh  “aye” 
Rogers “aye”  Cohen  “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
Chair Cohen encouraged Board members to register for the annual Mass Municipal Association 
conference on January 20th & 21st. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Chair Cohen invited comments from the public.  There were none. 
 
  



Selectmen Meeting  Minutes 8 December 5, 2022 

ADJOURNMENT 
Selectman Rogers moved the Board vote to adjourn; Selectman Hirsh seconded the motion; the 
roll call vote was as follows: 

Perreault “aye” Hirsh “aye” 
Rogers “aye” Cohen “aye” 
Wixted “aye” 

The meeting adjourned at 8:50 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Diane M. Wackell 
Executive Assistant to the 
  Board of Selectmen 

Documents used during meeting: 
1. December 5, 2022 Meeting Agenda
2. November 7, 2022 Meeting Minutes
3. November 21, 2022 Meeting Minutes
4. Information Packet – Dog Park Site Selection.
5. Information Packet – Temporary Traffic Safety Committee Appointment
6. Memorandum – FY2024 Free Cash Plan
7. Information Packet – Town Meeting & FY2024 Budget Schedule
8. Memorandum – Meeting Dates
9. Memorandum – Closure of Town Offices, DPW and Senior Center
10. Cemetery Deeds

RETURN TO AGENDA



 

 Town Hall Offices • 63 Main Street • Northborough, MA 01532 • 508-393-5040 x7• 508-393-6996 Fax 

 
 

December 15, 2022 
 
 
John Coderre, Town Administrator 
Town Hall Offices 
63 Main Street 
Northborough, MA 01532 
 
Dear Mr. Coderre, 
 
At the Board of Selectmen meeting scheduled for December 19, 2022, DPW Director Scott 
Charpentier and I will give a PowerPoint presentation updating the Board of Selectmen on the final 
draft version of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) “Complete Streets 
Prioritization Plan”, which ranks the 25 projects previously identified by staff and through 
community outreach efforts.   As you know, the goal of the Complete Streets Program is to support 
safe and accessible options for all modes of travel – walking, biking, transit, and motorized vehicles- 
for people of all ages and abilities.  The following constitutes a status update of our participation in 
the program to date: 
 
Completed 
1. The Northborough Board of Selectmen (BOS) adopted the Town of Northborough Complete 

Streets Policy at their January 10, 2022 meeting.  We were informed by MassDOT that they 
approved the policy on January 18, 2022 with a score of 91. 
 

2. The Town was awarded a $35,200 technical assistance grant from MassDOT on February 17, 
2022 to aid in development of our Complete Streets Prioritization Plan.  The Town executed a 
contract with Woodard & Curran to perform this work. 

 
3. Public Works and the Planning staff worked with our consultant to prepare, via a public outreach 

campaign, our Complete Streets Prioritization Plan for Board of Selectmen and MassDOT 
acceptance.  This plan contains a list of projects, in order of local priority, that identifies sidewalk, 
bicycle, and accessible transportation connectivity and safety improvements, cost estimates, and 
a schedule for implementation of those projects.     
 
In July, the Town Engineer, DPW Director and Planning Director met with staff from Woodard 
and Curran to review existing data, including maps, a Sidewalk Management Report and Road 
Safety Audit, for the purpose of identifying projects for inclusion in the Prioritization Plan.  
Ultimately, 24 projects were identified by staff.     
 
In August, staff and our consultant prepared and distributed an on-line survey, which was 
available from August 15th through August 29th.  808 responses were ultimately collected and 
analyzed by the consultant.    
 
On September 15th, Public Works and Planning staff presented the list of 24 projects to the 
Master Plan Implementation Committee and asked for their feedback.  Committee members 



 

identified their top projects and asked for one sidewalk project to be added to the list.  Please 
see the attached letter from Chairman Rick Leif for the results of that discussion.    
 
The survey results, list of 25 projects and evaluation criteria were presented at the October 17th 
Board of Selectmen meeting and attendees were asked to provide feedback.   Feedback was 
collected during the meeting and via email during the days following the meeting.     
 
After the October 17th meeting, staff from Woodard & Curran, our consulting engineer, ranked 
the 25 projects using the following agreed-upon evaluation criteria:   
 
• Benefits all users, incomes and abilities; 
• Enhances/creates a safe route to school; 
• Links neighborhoods to shopping, recreation areas and/or public facilities; 
• Addresses gap in sidewalk network; 
• ADA accessibility improvement; 
• Benefits public health and the environment; 
• Safety improvement; 
• Shovel-ready project; 
• Low-cost project or project with external funding opportunities; 
• Identified as priority project via public input. 

 
Once the preliminary ranking was complete, staff made additional adjustments to the top 15 list; 
prioritizing popular projects that are most likely to attract Complete Streets Construction Grant 
funding and/or other state and federal grants.    
 
The purpose of the December 19th presentation is to update the Board of Selectmen on the 
ranking, and secure Board of Selectmen approval of the Prioritization Plan so that the final draft 
can be submitted to MassDOT for final review and approval. 

 
Next Step 
4. Communities with a locally adopted Policy and MassDOT-approved Prioritization Plan are 

eligible to seek construction funding of up to $500,000 within a 4-year timeframe to aid in plan 
implementation.  Municipalities can submit multiple projects for potential funding, or only one 
project.  We expect to submit the Prioritization Plan for MassDOT approval by the end of this 
calendar year, allowing us to initiate project design in advance of the next round of construction 
grant submissions which are expected to be due May 1, 2023.  Projects may include new 
sidewalk construction to address gaps in the network, ADA upgrades to existing deteriorated 
sidewalks, ramps and pedestrian signals, roadway/intersection narrowing and installation of 
rapid flashing beacons to enhance safety, construction of bicycle lanes and shared-use lanes, 
installation of wayfinding signage, and transit improvements (i.e. bus shelters).  Construction 
grants cannot be used for survey, land acquisition, or design services. These tasks must be 
funded through other means such as local appropriation (including ARPA) or Chapter 90. 

 
I look forward to continuing the conversation about the Complete Streets Program on Monday 
evening.  Thank you for your attention to this matter.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Laurie Connors 



Complete Streets Prioritization 
Plan
Northborough, Massachusetts

December 19

2022

Source: Smart Growth America
Photo Source: Smart Growth America



What is  a  Complete Street?

• Designed and operated to make travel safe, comfortable, convenient, and 
accessible for people of all ages, abilities, and travel modes. 

• Designing streets with these principles contributes toward:
• Safety, health, economic viability and quality of life in a community by improving the 

pedestrian and vehicular environments. 
• Providing safer, more accessible and comfortable means of travel between home, school, 

work, recreation and retail destinations helps promote more livable communities.

Source: Michigan’s Great Southwest



MassDOT Complete Streets Program

• Eligible project types
• Environment & Streetscape: street lighting, bicycle 

parking, street trees or landscaping, stormwater 
management

• Intersection Redesigns: roundabouts, curb extension, 
intersection signalization

• Pedestrian & Bike Network Connections: shared-use 
paths, bike lanes, sidewalks

• Pedestrian Crossing Modifications: ADA-compliant curb 
ramp, Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons, crossing islands, 
pedestrian signal upgrades

• Street Configuration & Traffic Calming: lane elimination, 
lane narrowing, traffic calming measures

• Transit Investments: transit station/stop access 
improvements, bus lanes, bus pullouts



Northborough Complete Streets Pol icy

• Adopted January 2022
• Policy focuses on making roads easily 

navigable by people of all ages and abilities
• Received a $35,200 technical assistance grant 

from MassDOT to develop a prioritization plan 



Northborough Pr ior it izat ion Plan Development

• Identified potential projects through public 
process

• Initial list of projects identified by Town officials 
during a June 2nd workshop

• Feedback collected from 808 local residents via 
community survey

• Public feedback on project list provided via 
September 15th Master Plan Implementation 
Committee meeting and October 17th public 
information & input session 



Northborough’s  Pr ior it izat ion Cr iter ia  

• Woodard & Curran & municipal staff ranked identified projects 
using the following evaluation criteria:  

- Benefits all users, incomes and abilities 
- Enhances/creates a safe route to school
- Links neighborhoods to shopping, recreation areas and/or public facilities
- Addresses gap in sidewalk network
- ADA accessibility improvement
- Benefits public health and the environment 
- Safety improvement 
- Shovel-ready project
- Low-cost project or project with external funding opportunities
- Identified as priority project via public input.

Use this QR Code to 
participate in the survey!



Northborough Complete Streets 
Pr ior it izat ion Plan

 Consists of 25 projects throughout Town totaling 
between $3.5M - $4.4M+
1. Pierce Street – Sidewalk Replacement
2. Hudson Street – New Sidewalk
3. South Street – Sidewalk Replacement
4. Gale Street – New Sidewalk
5. Church Street – Sidewalk Improvement
6. Aqueduct Trail – Multi-use Trail
7. Aqueduct Bridge – Multi-use Trail 
8. Allen Street – New Sidewalk
9. Maple Street – New Sidewalk
10. Pinehaven Drive – New Sidewalk
11. South Street – Sharrows
12. Pierce Street – Lighting Improvements
13. Blake Street – Lighting Improvements
14. Gale Street – Lighting Improvements
15. Bartlett & Maple Streets Intersection                  

Improvements
16. Bartlett Street – Bike Lanes
17. Chesterfield Road – Crosswalk Improvements

18. Pierce Street – Street Lighting

18. River Street – New Sidewalk
19. Davis Street – New Sidewalk
20. Bearfoot Road – New Sidewalk 
21. Townwide – Bike Racks 
22. Howard Street – Sidewalk Replacement
23. Pleasant Street – Sidewalk Replacement
24. Lincoln Street – Sidewalk Replacement
25. Lyman Street – Bike Lane



Next Steps

• Once approved by the Board of Selectmen, submit final Complete 
Streets Prioritization Plan to MassDOT for review and approval.

• Once approved by MassDOT, Town is eligible to submit funding 
requests for the construction of priority Complete Streets projects 
not to exceed $500,000 within a 4-year period.



Thank You!















RETURN TO AGENDA



TOWN OF  NORTHBOROUGH 
Town Offices 

63 Main Street 
Northborough, MA 01532-1994 

(508) 393-5040 Phone
(508) 393-6996 Fax

MEMO 

TO: Members of the Board of Selectmen 
Town Administrator 

FROM: Diane Wackell 

DATE:  December 15, 2022 

RE: 2023 License Renewals Final List 

************************************************************************ 

Attached please find the 2023 License Renewal List.  All taxes and fees are up to date in 
accordance with Northborough Code 2-40-030.  The only restaurant that closed during the 
2022 calendar year is Millar Farm at 277 Main Street. 

It is recommended that all licenses be renewed with the condition that all licensees receive 
a satisfactory inspection by the Building, Fire and Health Departments. 



For Calendar Year 2023 
RESTAURANT LICENSES 

A.J.’S RESTAURANT
411 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

AMERICAN LEGION 
402 West Main Street  
All Alcoholic Beverages Club 

ANZIO’S BRICK OVEN PIZZA 
10010Q Shops Way 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

CASA VALLARTA 
45 Belmont Street (Route 9)  
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

CASTA DIVA 
35 Solomon Pond Road 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

THE CELLAR BAR & GRILLE 
369 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

C’EST LA VIE BISTRO 
30  Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

CHET’S DINER 
191 Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

JUNIPER HILL GOLF COURSE 
202 & 171 Brigham Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

LA MIETTE LA MAI THAI BISTRO 
278 Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

MIKAKU 
290 West Main Street, Unit #9 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 



THE NEIGHBORHOOD TAVERN 
318 Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

RANCHO CORONA 
290 West Main Street - #11 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

REPLAYS inside TEAMWORKS 
185 Otis Street 
Wine & Malt Beverages Restaurant 

ROMAINE'S 
299 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

TIO JUANS MARGARITAS MEXICAN RESTAURANT 
10006 Shops Way 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 

YAMA ZAKURA 
369 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Beverages Restaurant 



For the Calendar Year 2023 
PACKAGE STORE LICENSES 

ARMENO COFFEE ROASTERS 
75 Otis Street 
Wine & Malt Package Store 

BJ's WHOLESALE CLUB 
6102 Shops Way 
All Alcoholic Package Store 

BACON’S WINE & SPIRITS OF NORTHBOROUGH 
308 Main Street 
All Alcoholic Package Store 

BROTHER’S LIQUORS 
276 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Package Store 

COUNTRY DISCOUNT LIQUORS 
411 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Package Store 

HELEN’S VARIETY 
292 Main Street 
Wine & Malt Package Store 

NORTHBORO CENTER GASOLINE 
36 West Main Street 
Wine &  Malt Package Store 

NORTHBOROUGH LIQUORS 
15 West Main Street 
All Alcoholic Package Store 

PAIRED, POURED & PLATED 
290 West Main Street, Suite 8 
Wine & Malt Package Store 

WEGMANS 
9102-9104 Shops Way 
All Alcoholic Package Store 



For the Calendar Year 2023  
COMMON VICTUALLER LICENSES 

AERO COFFEE ROASTERS 
318 Main Street, Suite 100 

ATHENS PIZZA 
292 Main Street 

BEYOND NUTRITION 
269 West Main Street – 2A 

BISTRO AT 119 
119 Bearfoot Road 

BRILLA COFFEE 
17 West Main Street 

BRITNEY'S CAFÉ 
291 Main Street 

BURGER KING 
1102 Shops Way  

DAVIDIAN BROS. FARM 
500 Church Street 

DUNKIN DONUTS 
70 West Main Street 

ECONO LODGE SUITES 
380 South West Cutoff 

FATTOUSH GRILL & BAKERY 
10 Blake Street 

FESTIVE BREADS 
299 West Main Street 

HILLSIDE RESTAURANT 
73 West Main Street 

HONEY DIP DONUTS 
308 Main Street 

IHOP 
4102 Shops Way 

JIMMY JOHN’S 
10010B Shops Way 



JOLLY ROGERS DINER 
249 West Main Street 
 
KUMAR’S SOUTH INDIAN RESTAURANT 
8110 Shops Way 
 
LA LA JAVA 
290 West Main Street 
 
LIL M’S MART 
299 West Main Street 
 
MOOYAH 
10010A Shops Way 
 
NICKY D’S DONUTS 
253 West Main Street 
 
NORTHBORO HOUSE OF PIZZA 
12 Main Street 
 
PICKLE HAUS DELI 
276 West Main Street 
 
QDOBA MEXICAN EATS 
4104 Shops Way 
 
SAMMY’S 
14 East Main Street 
 
SHANGRI-LA YAKI SUSHI 
259 West Main Street 
 
SPECIAL TEAS 
10 Church Street 
 
STARBUCKS COFFEE 
1104 Shops Way 
 
SUBWAY INSIDE WALMART 
200 Otis Street 
 
TOUGAS FAMILY FARM KITCHEN 
246 Ball Street 
 
TOWN CENTER PIZZA 
245A West Main Street 
 
VINA’S PIZZERIA 
308A  Main Street 
 
  



For the Calendar Year 2023 
CLASS I AND II LICENSES 

CLASS I 
HERB CHAMBERS HONDA 
36 Belmont Street/Route 9 

LEXUS OF NORTHBOROUGH 
14-24 Belmont Street/Route 9

STONE'S MOTORCYCLE 
89 Main Street 

CLASS II 
4TH DIMENSION AUTO SALES 
7 Belmont Street 

BARRY’S AUTO SALES 
25R Bartlett Street 

CONTINENTAL AUTO SALES 
338A Main Street 

DUKE’S AUTOMOTIVE 
154 West Main Street 

HENRY’S USED CARS 
312 Southwest Cutoff 

KARAM AUTO SALES 
281B West Main Street 

OMIECKI AUTO SALES 
95 Southwest Cutoff 

WEST SIDE AUTO 
312B Southwest Cutoff 



For the Calendar Year 2023 
GENERAL LICENSES 

BOWLING 
SAWYER’S BOWLADROME 
13 Blake Street 

INN HOLDER 
MOTEL SIX 
27 Belmont Street 

TRANSPORTATION/LIVERY 
DIVINE COMMUNITY TRANSPORTATION 
300 West Main Street 

RETURN TO AGENDA



BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
INTERVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE 

MEETING MINUTES – December 13, 2022 

5:15 p.m. -  Introduction to Remote Meeting 
Selectman Wixted stated that this Open Meeting of the Board of Selectmen Interview 
Subcommittee is being conducted remotely consistent with Chapter 22 of the Acts of 2022, 
an Act Relative to Extending Certain COVID-19 Measures Adopted During the State of 
Emergency and signed into law on July 16, 2022 and that all members of the Board of 
Selectmen Interview Subcommittee are allowed and encouraged to participate remotely. 

Selectman Wixted noted that the Order allows public bodies to meet entirely remotely so 
long as reasonable public access is afforded so that the public can follow along with the 
deliberations of the meeting.  She added that this meeting will be livestreamed, but will not 
feature public comment. She indicated the various ways that the public may view this 
meeting as listed on the posted agenda.   

Selectman Wixted stated that any votes taken this evening will be by roll call vote. She 
confirmed that the following were remotely present and could be heard. 

Board of Selectmen Interview Subcommittee 
Selectman Julianne Hirsh 
Selectman Kristen Wixted 

ACCEPTANCE OF MEETING MINUTES – November 15, 2022 
Selectman Hirsh moved the Interview Subcommittee vote to accept the meeting minutes 
of the November 15, 2022 meeting; Selectman seconded the motion; the roll call vote was 
taken as follows: 

Selectman Hirsh “aye” 
Selectman Wixted “aye” 

ACCEPTANCE OF MEETING MINUTES – November 30, 2022 
Selectman Hirsh moved the Interview Subcommittee vote to accept the meeting minutes 
of the November 30, 2022 meeting; Selectman Wixted seconded the motion; the roll call 
vote was taken as follows: 

Selectman Hirsh “aye” 
Selectman Wixted “aye” 

During each interview, applicants were told that following tonight’s interviews, the 
Interview Subcommittee will vote on their recommendation for appointments for the Board 
of Selectmen’s consideration at their meeting on December 19, 2022.  



Interview Sub Committee Meeting Minutes 
December 13, 2022 

-2- 

INTERVIEW FOR THE YOUTH COMMISSION 

Remotely present: 
Selectman Julianne Hirsh 
Selectman Kristen Wixted 
Youth Commission Chair Sherry Clark 
Erica Zeiger – for her interview only 

Erica Zeiger 
Ms. Zeiger has been a Northborough resident for 10 years.  She is the Director of the 
Massachusetts Soldiers Legacy Fund, which is a nonprofit organization that provides 
educational assistance grants to children of Massachusetts Service Members who died due 
to service post 9/11.  The needs of children at all different age levels are important to her 
and she has the experience and knowledge that would be an asset to the Youth Commission. 

Ms. Clark noted that she knows Ms. Zeiger and is excited about her passion for making a 
positive impact for the youth in Town. 

INTERVIEW FOR THE HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 

Remotely present: 
Selectman Julianne Hirsh 
Selectman Kristen Wixted 
Historic District Commission Chair Norm Corbin 
Amanda Derosier Millette – for her interview only 

Amanda Derosier Millette 
Ms. Millette has been a Northborough resident for 24 years.  She has been involved with 
the Historical Society for a number of years and created the Facebook Group page called 
“Save the White Cliffs”.  She is experienced in genealogical research and has helped to 
save historic properties.  She has served as an Alternate Member on the Historic District 
Commission for two years.  She is currently working on a project for the elementary 
schools that will teach the kids about the history of Fannie Proctor, Margaret Peaslee and 
Marion Zeh, of whom the elementary schools are named after.  She feels that it is important 
to get the kids interested in the Town’s history.   

Mr. Corbin added that Ms. Millette has been an important asset to the Historic District 
Commission and he would be happy to continue working with her as a voting member. 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT 
Following a brief discussion of each of the candidates ability and interest to serve on the 
Board or Committee to which they applied, Selectmen Hirsh and Wixted made the 
following recommendations for appointment. 



Interview Sub Committee Meeting Minutes 
December 13, 2022 
 
 

 

-3- 

Selectman Hirsh moved the Interview Subcommittee vote to recommend Erica Zeiger for 
appointment to the Youth Commission at the December 19, 2022 Selectmen’s Meeting; 
Selectman Wixted seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Selectman Hirsh “aye” 
Selectman Wixted “aye” 
 
Selectman Hirsh moved the Interview Subcommittee vote to recommend Amanda Derosier 
Millette for appointment as a voting member on the Historic District Commission at the 
December 19, 2022 Selectmen’s Meeting; Selectman Wixted seconded the motion; the roll 
call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Selectman Hirsh “aye” 
Selectman Wixted “aye” 
 
DISCUSSION REGARDING POSSIBLE REVISIONS TO TOWN BOARD, 
COMMITTEE AND COMMISSION APPLICATION 
Selectmen Hirsh and Wixted reviewed the existing application to Boards, Committees and 
Commissions and discussed a number of revisions to make it more inviting and not so 
intimidating.  Selectman Wixted will update the application as discussed with the intent to 
bring it to the Board of Selectmen for its consideration. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Selectman Hirsh moved the Interview Subcommittee vote to adjourn; Selectman Wixted 
seconded the motion; the roll call vote was taken as follows: 
 
Selectman Rogers “aye”  
Selectman Wixted “aye” 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:15 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Diane M. Wackell 
Executive Assistant to the 
  Board of Selectmen 

 
Documents used during meeting: 
1. December 13, 2022 Meeting Agenda 
2. November 15, 2022 Meeting Minutes 
3. November 30, 2022 Meeting Minutes 
4. Application to the Youth Commission 
5. Application to the Historic District Commission 
6. Memo including points of discussion for revision to BCC Application 

















RETURN TO AGENDA



Possible revision to Northborough Boards and Committees application 
Drafted by Kristen Wixted, BoS member, 12/15/2022 

Name  
Address  
Telephone number—is it necessary to put this on the application? I feel that should be optional 
in the application. People can give their number to Diane but not have it listed in the 
application which is publicly accessible. 
Email same thing. 

Questions 

1. Are you a resident of Northborough?
2. How many years have you lived in Northborough?
3. What about this particular BCC interests you?
4. How did you hear about this opening?
5. If this is not a new committee, have you been able to attend or watch any meetings of

this BCC? Have you reached out to any of the current or recent past members of this
BCC?

6. What might be your goals for this BCC?
7. What volunteering do you do/have you done locally, including but not limited to: other

town boards, commissions, or committees; in the schools; with other local
organizations.

8. If you feel your occupation or other volunteer work is relevant to this BCC, please
mention it here.

9. Please list any special skills, knowledge, or qualities you can bring to this BCC.
10. If you feel your educational background is relevant to this BCC, please list it here.
11. Please attach a letter of interest and any additional information you feel may be helpful

while reviewing your application.

Thank you for volunteering for the town of Northborough! 

Signature, COI, etc. 



TOWN OF  NORTHBOROUGH 
Town Offices 

63 Main Street 
Northborough, MA 01532-1994 

(508) 393-5040 Phone
(508) 393-6996 Fax

Application to serve on a  
Board, Committee or Commission (BCC) 

NAME: ____________________________ TEL: (C) _____________________ 

ADDRESS: ____________________________ (H) _____________________

____________________________ (EMAIL) _____________________ 

BBC DESIRED: _____________________________________________________ 
(If more than one, please complete one application for each Board or Committee desired) 

Are you a registered voter in Northborough?      YES _____      NO _____ 

How many years have you lived in Northborough? _________________ 

Why do you want to serve on this particular BCC? 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Please state three attributes you can bring to this BCC: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Have you attended any meetings of this BCC? __________________________________ 

Are there any changes you would like to make if you are appointed to this BCC? 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Do you regularly attend Town Meeting?  Yes ______ No ______ 

Have you ever served on a BCC in Northborough?  Yes ______ No ______ 

If yes, please list the Boards, Committees and/or Commissions you have served on: 

________________________________________________________________________ 



What is your occupation?  __________________________________________________ 

Please list any skills or specialized knowledge you can bring to this BCC: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Please list your education background: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Please list any professional affiliations: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Please attach a resume or a letter of interest and list any additional information you feel 
may be helpful while reviewing your application: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

I understand , if appointed, I will be required to abide by the provisions of Massachusetts 
General Laws, Chapter 268A  - “Conflict of Interest”as provided by the Town Clerk. 

______________________________________ ______________________________ 
Signature Date 

PLEASE RETURN COMPLETED APPLICATION TO: 
Diane Wackell, Selectmen's Office 

63 Main Street, Northborough, MA 01532 
or by email to dwackell@town.northborough.ma.us 

============================================================= 
**Applications will be maintained in the Selectmen’s Office for 6 months 

from the date of receipt.  Applications may be updated and 
resubmitted after the 6 month time period** 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

Date of Interview: ___________________ Time: __________________ 

By Vote of BOS on 2.25.2019 

RETURN TO AGENDA

mailto:dwackell@town.northborough.ma.us


RETURN TO AGENDA


	Complete Streets Presentation.pdf
	Complete Streets Prioritization Plan
	What is a Complete Street?
	MassDOT Complete Streets Program
	Northborough Complete Streets Policy
	Northborough Prioritization Plan Development
	Northborough’s Prioritization Criteria 
	Northborough Complete Streets �Prioritization Plan
	Next Steps
	Thank You!

	memo to bos - final list.pdf
	MEMO

	2023 roster.pdf
	MIKAKU
	HELEN’S VARIETY
	292 Main Street
	ATHENS PIZZA
	BEYOND NUTRITION
	BISTRO AT 119
	BRILLA COFFEE
	BRITNEY'S CAFÉ
	DUNKIN DONUTS
	ECONO LODGE SUITES
	FATTOUSH GRILL & BAKERY
	FESTIVE BREADS
	HILLSIDE RESTAURANT
	HONEY DIP DONUTS
	JIMMY JOHN’S
	KUMAR’S SOUTH INDIAN RESTAURANT
	LA LA JAVA
	LIL M’S MART
	NICKY D’S DONUTS
	NORTHBORO HOUSE OF PIZZA
	PICKLE HAUS DELI
	QDOBA MEXICAN EATS
	STARBUCKS COFFEE
	SUBWAY INSIDE WALMART
	TOUGAS FAMILY FARM KITCHEN
	VINA’S PIZZERIA
	HERB CHAMBERS HONDA
	LEXUS OF NORTHBOROUGH
	STONE'S MOTORCYCLE
	BOWLING


	Interview minutes.pdf
	BOARD OF SELECTMEN
	MEETING MINUTES – December 5, 2022
	Diane M. Wackell
	Executive Assistant to the
	Board of Selectmen
	1. December 5, 2022 Meeting Agenda
	2. November 7, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	3. November 21, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	4. Information Packet – Dog Park Site Selection.
	5. Information Packet – Temporary Traffic Safety Committee Appointment
	6. Memorandum – FY2024 Free Cash Plan
	7. Information Packet – Town Meeting & FY2024 Budget Schedule
	8. Memorandum – Meeting Dates
	9. Memorandum – Closure of Town Offices, DPW and Senior Center
	10. Cemetery Deeds

	Interview Minutes 12.13.22.pdf
	BOARD OF SELECTMEN
	INTERVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE
	MEETING MINUTES – December 13, 2022
	Diane M. Wackell
	Executive Assistant to the
	Board of Selectmen
	1. December 13, 2022 Meeting Agenda
	2. November 15, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	3. November 30, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	4. Application to the Youth Commission
	5. Application to the Historic District Commission
	6. Memo including points of discussion for revision to BCC Application

	Mn 12.05.22.pdf
	BOARD OF SELECTMEN
	MEETING MINUTES – December 5, 2022
	Diane M. Wackell
	Executive Assistant to the
	Board of Selectmen
	1. December 5, 2022 Meeting Agenda
	2. November 7, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	3. November 21, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	4. Information Packet – Dog Park Site Selection.
	5. Information Packet – Temporary Traffic Safety Committee Appointment
	6. Memorandum – FY2024 Free Cash Plan
	7. Information Packet – Town Meeting & FY2024 Budget Schedule
	8. Memorandum – Meeting Dates
	9. Memorandum – Closure of Town Offices, DPW and Senior Center
	10. Cemetery Deeds




